

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

2016

Evaluation of the Intervention Efficacy of Lions Quest Skills for Adolescence

Jennifer Lee Switzer *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Education Commons</u>, and the <u>Psychology Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Jennifer Switzer

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Martha Giles, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. John Meis, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Susan Marcus, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2016

Abstract

Evaluation of the Intervention Efficacy of Lions Quest Skills for Adolescence

by

Jennifer Lee Switzer

MA, Liberty University, 2010

BA, Houghton College, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

General Psychology

Walden University

November 2016

Abstract

Adolescence is characterized as a time of impulsivity, emotional decision-making, and peer influence; thus, interventions targeting the development of effective psychosocial skills are imperative. Improved psychosocial functioning can equip adolescents for successfully overcoming future life challenges. There are few studies that have examined how adolescents' psychosocial skills could be improved in the context of substance abuse prevention program participation. The purpose of this study was to examine changes in psychosocial skills in a group of adolescents who participated in 2 of 10 Lions Quest Skills for Adolescence (Lions Quest SFA) programs being used in central Virginia middle schools. This study examined whether Lions Quest SFA was useful in observing changes in the total score of lagging psychosocial skills, which incorporated measures of impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills. The adolescent population of interest had already demonstrated weaknesses in these areas as they had been referred to this program from school-based mental health services. This archival study used an ANCOVA to analyze 1-year pre- and posttest score differences on the Assessment of Lagging Skills and Unsolved Problems and examine possible gender differences following participation in the program for 1 school year. The secondary dataset consisted of pre- and posttest scores of 36 male students and 30 female students. The results of this study demonstrated implications for social change as they extended the knowledge in this area by suggesting that participation in the Lions Quest SFA program may contribute to the improvement of psychosocial skills, and these findings could contribute to the improvement of treatment interventions used at Horizon Behavioral Health.

Evaluation of the Intervention Efficacy of Lions Quest Skills for Adolescence

by

Jennifer Lee Switzer

MA, Liberty University, 2010

BA, Houghton College, 2007

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

General Psychology

Walden University

November 2016

Dedication

This paper is dedicated to the children and adolescents who are struggling with emotional and behavioral disorders and to the mental health professionals who work tirelessly to support them in having a successful life.

Acknowledgments

No one achieves a dream alone. I am so thankful to my mother and grandparents for believing in me and supporting me in every endeavor I chose to do. No soccer game was too far and no psychology topic was too boring--you have always been my biggest fans. To my Pop, you passed before I finished this study, but I know you knew I would always finish. Special thanks to my friends and colleagues who understood the sacrifices needed along this journey, and to my best friend, Jessica, who motivated and supported me throughout this process. I owe a debt of gratitude to Horizon Behavioral Health for training me and cultivating my desire to help today's youth. To my clinical mentors, Dr. Nina Dillon, Genevieve Whittemore, and Sandy Bryant--thank you for exemplifying wisdom and ethics, you are the standard I hold myself to in clinical practice. Thank you to Dr. Giles and Dr. Meis, for your willingness to serve on my committee and for your guidance and support along the way. Lastly, my deepest gratitude to the children and adolescents I have had the privilege of working with throughout my career. You are my motivation to do my very best work.

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	4
Research Questions and Hypotheses	5
Theoretical Framework	7
Nature of the Study	8
Definitions	9
Assumptions	11
Scope and Delimitations	12
Limitations	13
Significance	14
Summary	14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	16
Introduction	16
Literature Search Strategy	16
Theoretical Foundation	17
Lagging Adolescent Psychosocial Skills	19
Scope of the Problem	

Table of Contents

Psychosocial Skills	
Protective Factors	
Interventions for Psychosocial Skill Development	31
Lions Quest SFA	
Summary	34
Chapter 3: Research Method	36
Introduction	36
Research Design and Rationale	
Methodology	
Population	
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	
Procedures for Secondary Data Collection	
Instrumentation	
Data Analysis	40
Threats to Validity	42
Ethical Considerations	43
Summary	44
Chapter 4: Results	45
Introduction	45
Data Collection	46
Results	47

Descriptive Statistics	47
Research Questions Results	48
Summary	49
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	51
Introduction	51
Interpretation of the Findings	51
Limitations of the Study	52
Recommendations	54
Implications	55
Conclusion	56
References	57
Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation from Horizon Behavioral Health	78
Appendix B: ALSUP Checklist	79

List of Tables

Table 1. Pre- and Posttest ALSUP Scores	48
Table 2. ALSUP Score Differences by Gender	48
Table 3. ANCOVA Summary	49

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Introduction

Adolescent risk-taking behavior has been identified as the "number one public health problem in the United States" (Gibbons, Kingsbury, & Gerrard, 2012, p. 170). It is the cause for poor decision-making and impulsivity common in adolescence. Psychosocial skills, including impulse control and self-regulating behaviors, tend to develop through late adolescence (Albert & Steinberg, 2011; Blakemore & Robbins, 2012; Pharo et al., 2011). Many studies have examined the impact of emotional and social skill building on substance abuse and mental health disorders in adolescent populations (Harrell et al., 2009; King et al., 2011; Lanteigne et al., 2014; Lemstra et al., 2010; Mavroveli et al., 2007; Oklan & Henderson, 2014; Reyna & Mills, 2014; Silvers et al., 2012; Tremblay, 2010).

Developing appropriate psychosocial skills in adolescence becomes even more problematic in the context of preventing or treating substance abuse. Research on substance abuse programs has shown that individuals can improve specific psychosocial skills, including impulse control and social skills, as a result of participating in prevention or treatment programs (Carroll et al., 2006; Epstein et al., 2003; Hollon, 2003). However, these studies are limited and primarily focus on adults. These studies point to the need for more research in settings like this.

The Lions Quest SFA program was originally developed as a substance abuse prevention program, and considerable research has been conducted to demonstrate its effectiveness (Eisen, Zellman, & Murray, 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2006).

However, the program of interest in this study was the Lions Quest SFA for adolescents in a school-based mental health program to improve problematic behaviors that occur in the classroom identified as lagging psychosocial skills. In the remainder of this chapter, I will outline the problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, theoretical framework, nature of the study, assumptions, scope, limitations, and significance of the research study.

Background

A review of school-based literature revealed that most programs were standalone interventions, addressing one specific problem and failing to comprehensively address the diverse needs of the participating students (Cook et al., 2015; Rones & Hoagwood, 2000). This approach has led to a multiplicity of school-based programs that target the prevention of single problems such as bullying, substance use, self-harm, and suicide (Cook et al., 2015; Fixsen, Blasé, Naoom, & Wallace, 2009). This single-minded focus prompts the question of whether a more universal approach using a program with more broad-spectrum coverage of problematic behaviors would be more effective and relevant to adolescents' academic and life success (Cook et al., 2015; Domitrovich et al., 2010; Osher & Fleischman, 2005). Cook et al. (2015) reported the need for integrated approaches and programs, as few studies have investigated a comprehensive approach to addressing multiple problematic behaviors at the same time (Reinke, Herman, & Ialongo, 2012).

Although studies have been conducted on adolescents' behavioral improvements following participation in Lions Quest SFA, they have primarily focused on the

prevention efforts of substance abuse behaviors. Specifically, Eisen, Zellman, and Murray (2003) reported reductions in alcohol-binging behaviors following a 2-year participation in the program, and the U.S. Department of Education (2006) reported that participation in this program had potentially positive effects on students' behaviors. Prior to this study, the program's intervention efficacy regarding improved psychosocial skills, specifically impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills, remained unexplored.

Poor impulse control has been identified as a risk factor for both males and females (Gullo & Dawe, 2008; King & Chassin, 2004; Kirisci, Tarter, Reynolds, & Vanyukov, 2006; Mezzich et al., 2007), and while King et al. (2011) found that males tended to have more self-control problems than females, both the males and females who had identified self-control problems did not differ in their rate of change or improvement in either domain over time without intervention. Males more often reported using avoidance strategies to regulate their emotions, while females more often reported using rumination and social support (Blanchard-Fields & Coats, 2008; Silk, Steinberg, & Morris, 2003; Vierhaus, Lohaus, & Ball, 2007; Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014). Interestingly, Saarni et al. (2006) speculated that gender differences in emotion regulation reflected gender roles in socialization; however, Zimmerman and Iwanski (2014) noted that a study had not yet attempted to replicate gender-specific emotion regulation with a large sample of adolescents. While it has been found that females were more sensitive to social issues than males (Oldehinkel et al., 2007), Verboom et al. (2013) and Vernberg (1991) found that there were no gender differences regarding the cycle that depressive symptoms and deficits in social skills predicted.

Problem Statement

The mental and behavioral health of children and adolescents has quickly become a national concern, and school-based prevention and treatment programs are being researched and developed to prevent problems and promote wellness for both male and female students (Cook et al., 2015). Due to the negative short- and long-term outcomes (school dropout, incarceration, and adult unemployment) for both male and female adolescents with psychosocial problems who do not receive effective interventions (Archambault, Janosz, Morizot, & Pagani, 2009; Nielsen et al., 2011), schools have been tasked with providing programs that teach the necessary competencies to succeed emotionally and socially, in addition to academically (Adelman & Taylor, 2006; Cook et al., 2015; Wagner, Newman, Cameto, & Levine, 2006). The challenges of developing such competencies are exacerbated when the adolescents are abusing alcohol and/or drugs. However, there are few studies that have examined how, psychosocial skills could be improved in the context of substance abuse prevention program participation.

Purpose of the Study

The mastery of impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills are common to adolescent development (Gibbons et al., 2012; King et al., 2011; Lanteigne et al., 2014; Mavroveli et al., 2007; Silvers et al., 2012; Tremblay, 2010); interventions that teach adolescents to effectively control their impulses and emotions and strengthen their adaptive social skills are highly beneficial in helping them successfully navigate the challenges of both adolescence and adulthood (Harrell et al., 2009; Lemstra et al., 2010; McLeod, 2010). Participation in the Lions Quest SFA curriculum has been linked to a decrease in substance abuse behaviors among adolescents (Eisen et al., 2003; Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2007; U.S. Department of Education, 2006). While Lions Quest SFA has been studied and used for substance abuse prevention, it had never been examined as an intervention to improve impulse control, emotion regulation, and social functioning. Nevertheless, Lions Quest SFA's emphasis on increasing self-efficacy has been correlated with decreases in adolescents who are already abusing substances (Eisen, Zellman, & Murray, 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2006), and its alignment with common cognitive behavioral techniques (McLeod, 2010) warranted the exploration of its intervention efficacy in regards to teaching other psychosocial skills. Therefore, the purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the effect of the Lions Quest SFA program on the development of lagging psychosocial skills, which included impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, that were measured by the combined assessment score on the Assessment of Lagging Skills and Unsolved Problems (ALSUP) checklist. In addition, I also examined the role of gender to see if there were differences in psychosocial skills development between young women and men.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

I chose a correlational design using secondary data to examine change in psychosocial skills over time. The secondary data I used included the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. The independent variables were time and gender; specifically, one school year starting in August, when the pretest was completed, and ending in June, when the posttest was completed. The ALSUP score recorded before intervention was the covariate, and gender was the grouping variable. The dependent variable was the ALSUP score recorded after intervention, which was the single measure assessment score of lagging psychosocial skills including the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. With this study, I addressed the following two specific research questions:

Research Question 1: Does participation in the Lions Quest SFA program improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist?

 H_01 : Participation in the Lions Quest SFA program does not improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist.

 H_A1 : Participation in the Lions Quest SFA program does improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist.

Research Question #2: Does gender affect the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist? H_02 : There is no difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist between males and females.

 H_A2 : There is a difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist between males and females.

Theoretical Framework

Erikson's (1950, 1963) psychosocial theory of child development provided the groundwork for understanding the importance of the development of psychosocial skills. Erikson's theory of psychosocial development highlighted the fundamental importance of social interactions (Dunn et al., 2012; Feldman, 2008; Ro & Clark, 2013), and focused on the development of communication and interpersonal skills that lead to healthy relationships with others, including impulse control and empathy (Ro & Clark, 2013). This theory outlined adolescence as highly formative years for decision-making, as short-term benefits are generally considered more important than long-term consequences (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Gibbons et al., 2012). This vulnerability in adolescence highlighted the need for interventions that could strengthen weak or lagging psychosocial skills.

As applied to this study, psychosocial theory explained the developmental process of psychosocial skills and emphasized the importance of these skills in positive interpersonal relations (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Ro & Clark, 2013). The psychosocial theory of child development posited that developmental maturation of psychosocial skills, including impulse control and self-regulatory behaviors, continues through adolescence (Albert & Steinberg, 2011; Blakemore & Robbins, 2012; Erikson, 1950, 1963; Pharo et al., 2011). As such, interventions have often been used to support psychosocial skill development in children and adolescents who have identified weaknesses (King et al., 2011; Lanteigne et al., 2014; Mavroveli et al., 2007; Silvers et al., 2012; Tremblay, 2010).

Lions Quest SFA is presented in a group session format to adolescents and includes the psychosocial approach of group-based skill training using role-playing and peer teaching, to enhance emotional and social competencies (SAMHSA, 2007). I used Erikson's psychosocial theoretical framework in this study to understand psychosocial skill development. I will discuss the theory in more detail in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

Horizon Behavioral Health, a community services board in central Virginia, used the Lions Quest SFA program as a prevention method for substance abuse in adolescents receiving school-based mental health services. Students who received school-based mental health services had been identified based on their emotional or behavioral problems, as needing additional mental health support in the classroom setting. These adolescents had demonstrated weaknesses in their psychosocial skills, and although the Lions Quest SFA program was not designed to address the skills and cognitive elements associated with impulse control, emotion regulation, and social functioning, the program could have addressed deficits in psychosocial skills. The Lions Quest SFA program does not have an assessment tool; however, in this research study, I examined a specific application of Lions Quest SFA that has been, and at the time of the study was being, evaluated by the ALSUP checklist. The ALSUP was utilized to identify and rank common psychosocial skills used in the school setting, and pre- and posttest scores were relied upon to highlight improvements in psychosocial skills that included impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. The resulting assessment score was the combination of these three identified psychosocial skills.

In this quantitative research study, I used secondary data. This correlational design was chosen due to the analysis of pre- and posttest data to identify if lagging psychosocial skills, that included in this research project the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, were improved as a result of participation in the Lion Quest SFA program. The independent variables were time and gender; specifically, one school year starting in August, when the pretest was completed, and ending in June, when the posttest was completed. The ALSUP score recorded before intervention was the covariate, and gender was the grouping variable. The dependent variable was the ALSUP score recorded after intervention, which was the single measure assessment score of lagging psychosocial skills including the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. I used an ANCOVA to analyze the pre- and posttest data and identify possible gender differences.

Definitions

The following key terms are defined to provide clarity to this study. The main terms, in addition to more common terms, are also defined to eliminate confusion between other definitions appropriate for different contexts:

Emotion dysregulation: Difficulty in the areas of awareness, understanding, and acceptance of one's emotions, often including the inability to control impulses or behave in a manner that is consistent with one's goals when experiencing negative emotions (Marganska, Gallagher, & Miranda, 2013). These difficulties compromise an individual's ability to use appropriate emotion regulation strategies to cope with a present situation.

Emotion regulation: Any effort that an individual makes to moderate or control their emotional experience (Gross, 2002; Watford & Stafford, 2015). It is generally referred to as a set of skills or strategies that are used to either enhance or suppress an emotional reaction (Marganska, Gallagher, & Miranda, 2013).

Impulsivity: Difficulty in the areas of future-oriented planning, organization, focus and concentration on task, and appropriate decision-making (Berg, Latzman, Bliwise, & Lilienfeld, 2015). Deficits in these areas often result in risky behaviors, as short-term sensations and rewards are prioritized over long-term consequences (Berg et al., 2015; Block, 1995).

Psychosocial skills: A multifaceted construct comprised of skills related to attention, cognitive flexibility, self-monitoring abilities, impulse control, social engagement, and social skill knowledge (Baumesiter, Schmeichel, & Vohs, 2007; Evans, Owens, & Bunford, 2013; Pfiffner et al., 2014; Robbins, Lauver, Davis, Langley, & Carlstrom, 2004; Suchy, 2009). *Social skills*: The ability to process social information and to engage in appropriate social behaviors based on differing situations (Fraser et al., 2005). Numerous factors impact the way an individual accrues and processes social knowledge including early life experiences, biological predispositions of arousal, contextual influences, parenting style, and peer acceptance or rejection (Fraser et al., 2005). These factors shape how an individual processes social information, which in turn dictates how they will behave in specific social situations.

Although many of these terms are common and relatively unambiguous, they were defined to add clarity and prevent any possible confusion. Much of the literature discussed in Chapter 2 highlights similar definitions of the key terms, and most of the definitions are founded within the psychosocial theory of child development.

Assumptions

My primary assumption in this study was that any behavioral improvements of the adolescents were a direct result of their participation in the Lions Quest SFA program, not taking into consideration other treatment interventions by mental health and school staff that could have occurred. Therefore, other avenues of treatment and psychological support should be considered when discussing improvements in an adolescent's psychosocial skill development (Aldao & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2012; Campbell-Heider, Tuttle, & Knapp, 2009; Harrell, Mercer, & DeRosier, 2009). Additionally, differences in service delivery by the mental health professionals could have existed and could have impacted an adolescent's willingness to participate and the detail of content covered in each session. It was assumed that the staff were trained and correctly implemented the

Lions Quest SFA program. It should be noted that I worked for Horizon Behavioral Health at the time of the study; however, I was never present at or involved with any of the programs addressed in this study. As with all secondary data research, there was the assumption that the secondary data were reported, collected, and stored reliably. Lastly, it was assumed that the findings of this study would be applicable to other applications of Lions Quest SFA with adolescents.

Scope and Delimitations

Although Lions Quest SFA has been studied and used for substance abuse prevention, it had never been studied in the context of using the program to impact impulse control, emotion regulation, and social functioning. In this study, I examined a specific application of Lions Quest SFA that has been, and at the time of the study was being, used in group sessions with adolescents who already had a demonstrated weakness in these psychosocial skills based on their need for school-based mental health services through Horizon Behavioral Health. It should be noted that I worked for Horizon Behavioral Health at the time of the study, and the secondary data set chosen for this study was based on convenience. This study's secondary data set included the gender and pre- and posttest ALSUP scores from adolescents participating in the Lions Quest SFA program through school-based mental health services in 2014 and was obtained through Horizon Behavioral Health's privacy officer.

Pre- and posttest ALSUP scores that were not based on the one school year's participation in Lions Quest SFA were not included in the secondary data set. Specifically, the data set only included pre-test scores completed in August 2013 and posttest scores completed in June, 2014, from two central Virginia schools. As stated, this study had two prominent delimitations: convenience of the data set (posing threats to both internal and external validity) and the limitations of the ALSUP as the assessment tool (construct validity). I relied upon the ALSUP pre- and posttest scores upon to identify improvements in psychosocial skills. The assessment score was a combination of psychosocial skills, as the ALSUP does not provide subscores for each individual skill.

Limitations

There were two concerns that threatened the construct validity of the measurement tool. I used the ALSUP to identify potential improvements in psychosocial skills that included well-known concepts of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. However, the score was a combination of these skills, as the ALSUP does not provide subscores for any of these concepts. Therefore, it was not possible to determine (a) if these dimensions were actually relevant to change and (b) the relative importance of each of the dimensions.

Although the ALSUP checklist has face validity (i.e., it appears to measure the identified construct), measurement validity and reliability have not been tested or documented (Campbell & Stanley, 1963; Creswell, 2009; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). This study did not have a control group and there was no manipulated independent variable. The absence of these attributes means the researcher could not minimize the effects of potentially confounding variables (Creswell, 2009; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). The study had a serious limitation for generalizability since it was not a random sample; therefore, the findings should not be generalized to the

larger population. However, the data came from a real-world setting, and this strengthened the ecological validity of the study (Creswell, 2009).

Significance

This research study contained potential implications for social change, as the findings of this study could contribute to the improvement of treatment interventions used at Horizon Behavioral Health. Specifically, if there were no improvements in psychosocial skill development, the findings could save the time and effort of the adolescents who are participating in the Lions Quest SFA program, as a more effective intervention could be used to meet their behavioral and emotional needs. However, if there were improvements in psychosocial skill development, the Lions Quest SFA program could meet the need for a more universal program that covers multiple lagging skills, as opposed to the numerous programs that only target single problems. The findings of this could identify Lions Quest SFA as a school-based intervention program that improves these psychosocial skills in adolescents, in addition to preventing substance abuse. In this study, I also examined gender to see if this individual difference would be important to consider in understanding how to work with this population. I intend to present the study's findings to the CEO and Board of Directors for Horizon Behavioral Health, along with a local presentation to central Virginia school administrators.

Summary

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the effect of the Lions Quest SFA program on the development of lagging psychosocial skills, including impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, and measure those skills by the combined assessment score on the ALSUP checklist. In Chapter 2, I will focus on a review of the literature about psychosocial skills, including impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills, along with gender differences in these skills. Additionally, the theoretical framework of this study and the existing literature on the Lions Quest SFA program will be explored. The foundation of research on this topic will be established in the literature review of Chapter 2, while the research design, data collection and analysis methodology, and ethical considerations will be outlined in Chapter 3. The data collection process and statistical results will be discussed in Chapter 4, and Chapter 5 will conclude with a discussion regarding the limitations of the study and the recommendations and implications for future research based on the findings of this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

The purpose of this research study was to identify whether adolescents participating in the Lions Quest SFA program improved in lagging social skills and whether gender made a difference in the how much change was observed. The relationship between adolescence and psychosocial skills has been thoroughly addressed over the years (King et al., 2011; Lanteigne et al., 2014; Mavroveli et al., 2007; Silvers et al., 2012; Tremblay, 2010), along with the consequences and dangers that deficits in these skills can often lead to (Castellanos-Ryan et al., 2013; King et al., 2011; Pharo et al., 2011; Tremblay, 2010; Walters, 2014). Thus, interventions that focus on psychosocial skill development in adolescence will benefit this population.

I will begin this chapter with a presentation of the theoretical framework grounded in the psychosocial theory of child development. The tenets of this theory highlight the developmental process of psychosocial skills and emphasize the importance of these skills in positive interpersonal relations (Ro & Clark, 2013). Following that, this review will cover the current research on psychosocial skills, specifically impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills, along with gender differences in these skills, and existing research examining the interventions that have been used to improve such skills.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted a search of literature digitally through electronic databases including PsycARTICLES, PsycINFO, and SAGE Premier. The list of keyword search terms I used to conduct the literature review included *adolescence*, *psychosocial development*, *psychosocial skills*, *Lions Quest curriculum*, *school-based interventions*, *impulsivity*, *emotion regulation*, and *social skills*. The articles collected and examined for this study were obtained digitally, and numerous books were also reviewed to provide the background on existing adolescent development research. Most of the articles cited throughout this literature review were peer reviewed and published within the last 5 years; however, to maximize the evidentiary support of the study, a few articles published within the last 10 years were included due to their important findings regarding this research topic.

Theoretical Foundation

Erikson's (1950, 1963) theory of psychosocial development highlighted the fundamental importance of an individual's social interactions with those around them (Feldman, 2008). Erikson argued that individuals continue to develop throughout their lifespan as they progress through various challenges common to their specific age group (Feldman, 2008). Specifically, Erikson emphasized that the primary challenge or crisis during adolescence is the search for one's identity and the assessment of one's capabilities, skills, and limitations in understanding the potential roles they may play in adulthood. Specifically, psychosocial development throughout adolescence includes important social transitions, such as exploring one's identity, creating meaningful relationships, and navigating one's differentiation from their parents (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Roisman, Masten, Coatsworth, & Tellegen, 2004;Verboom et al., 2013). Furthermore, reliance on friends and the pressures of societal influences peak during

17

adolescence, creating additional factors that may hinder or bolster an adolescent's decision-making processes and overall functioning (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Feldman, 2008).

Psychosocial development and functioning is categorized into three sections: basic, self-mastery, and social/interpersonal functioning (Ro & Clark, 2013). Basic functioning includes lower level behaviors such as self-care and necessary communication skills; however, self-mastery and social/interpersonal functioning are essential to healthy adolescent development (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Ro & Clark, 2013). Self-mastery includes the functional capacity to exercise impulse-control, while social/interpersonal functioning addresses an adolescent's ability to form and maintain positive relationships, along with demonstrating higher order social skills such as empathy for others (Ro & Clark, 2013). Blair et al. (2015) highlighted that almost all social interactions involve emotion regulation and discussed the parallel between emotional and social development. Additionally, previous research has documented the implications of emotion regulation on the development of socially appropriate behaviors and adaptive social functioning (Eisenberg, Hofer, & Vaughan, 2007; Rose- Krasnor & Denham, 2009).

Although social factors are highly influential on behavior throughout the lifespan, the implications of peer presence seem to peak during the adolescent years (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Gibbons et al., 2012). The psychosocial theory of development highlighted the differences in decision-making processes between adolescence and adulthood and emphasized that while risk and reward assessments tend to be similar in both populations, adolescents generally weigh rewards greater than risks and prefer short-term rewards, reflective of impulsive decision-making (Gibbons et al., 2012). Gibbons et al. (2012) noted that in addition to developmental considerations, impulse control was significantly impacted by social factors, as evidenced by brain regions affiliated with reward being more activated in the presence of peers.

Dunn et al. (2012) found that effective interventions that teach impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills and contribute to an adolescent's overall psychosocial functioning, help adolescents to be more adaptive and successful in meeting demands and challenges across various domains. While the Lions Quest SFA program has been studied and used for substance abuse prevention efforts, it has never been studied in the context of using the program to teach psychosocial skills. With this study, I attempted to address this gap and identify whether the Lions Quest SFA program being used in several central Virginia middle schools as a prevention program, was actually developing lagging psychosocial skills, defined in this research project as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills.

Lagging Adolescent Psychosocial Skills

Scope of the Problem

The term *psychosocial skills* refers to a multifaceted construct comprised of skills related to attention, cognitive flexibility, impulse control, and social functioning (Baumesiter, Schmeichel, & Vohs, 2007; Evans, Owens, & Bunford, 2013; Pfiffner et al., 2014; Robbins, Lauver, Davis, Langley, & Carlstrom, 2004; Suchy, 2009). There is ample evidence documenting the relationship between adequate psychosocial skill development in adolescence and many critical adult life outcomes. New and complex social expectations present adolescents with a variety of challenges (Taylor et al., 2015), as they are in a developmental transition and are sensitive to environmental influences (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013). Deficits in the ability to relate to one's parents, peers, and teachers place youth who lack these skills at greater risk for school failure (Woodward & Fergusson, 2000), substance use (Gullo & Dawe, 2008; Pharo et al., 2011), psychopathology (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Werner & Gross, 2010), suicide (Carney, 2000), and adjustment problems in adult life (Caldarella & Merrill, 1997). In fact, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' (2013) Healthy People 2020 initiative included adolescent health as one of its key 2020 objectives, focusing on the prevention and treatment of adolescent mental health, sexual behavior, and violence.

A major emerging issue in health care is the "increased focus on the use of positive youth development interventions for preventing adolescent health risk behaviors" (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013, p. 2). Addressing important psychosocial skills facilitates an alignment with healthy behaviors and helps to promote a healthy and productive adulthood (McNeely & Blanchard, 2009). Researchers have found recent empirical evidence that youth development interventions can lead to positive emotional and behavioral outcomes (Birkhead, Riser, & Mesler, 2009); thus, ongoing evaluation is needed to identify how successful interventions can be applied. **Psychosocial Skills** The three identified skills that have received considerable attention in the literature are: impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills. These skills are imperative to healthy development and are vital indicators of an individual's ability to successfully navigate the challenges and transitions of adolescence (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013). I will explore these three psychosocial skills in more depth in the remainder of this chapter. In addition, research on gender differences in each of these domains will be presented, as the research consistently reports important differences between young men and women.

Impulse control. The ability to control one's impulses is central to cognitive, emotional, and social functioning (Stahl et al., 2014). Impulsive behaviors tend to be identified when an individual acts or reacts in a manner that is incompatible with their long-term goals (Rauch, Gold, & Schmitt, 2012; Stahl et al., 2014). Impulsivity is a common symptom in many psychiatric disorders and includes the failure to control an impulse that could be potentially harmful to oneself or others (Lipszyc & Schachar, 2010; Rauch et al., 2012; Stahl et al., 2014). Impulsivity is a multifaceted construct and includes three main components of interference control: control of stimulus interference, proactive interference, and response interference (Nee, Jonides, & Berman, 2007; Nigg, 2000; Stahl et al., 2014; Unsworth, 2010).

Impulse control is closely related to both delay of gratification (Mischel et al., 2011) and motivational processes (Nigg, 2000). Additionally, it is a pivotal factor in adolescent decision-making (Rauch et al., 2012; Reynolds, Penfold, & Patak, 2008; Steinbeis, Bernhardt, & Singer, 2012). Specifically, impulse control is the ability to

pursue long-term goals despite the interference of impulses that could potentially distract or deter an adolescent from their achievement of those goals (Rauch et al., 2012; Stahl et al., 2014).

Blakemore and Robbins (2012) found that hypersensitivity in reward-processing brain regions (the dopaminergic reward system, including the ventral striatum), along with the relatively slow development of the prefrontal systems implicated in impulse and inhibitory control, may significantly contribute to the increase in risky behavior associated with adolescence. In addition to this asymmetrical functional development within the dopaminergic reward system (Blakemore & Robbins, 2012), individual differences in brain system integration and efficiency (primarily in the prefrontal cortex) were also correlated with impulsive and risky adolescent behaviors (Pharo et al., 2011). Specifically, Pharo et al. (2011) found that problematic behaviors such as impulsivity and aggression were related to increased levels of risky behaviors and that it was highly probable that adolescents' reckless behaviors were indicative of the ongoing maturation of the prefrontal cortex and related structures.

Furthermore, Pharo et al. (2011) concluded that during the majority of an individual's adolescent years, the brain's inhibitory system is asymmetrical with the excitatory systems (sensation-seeking), resulting in increased levels of risky behaviors. Although an adolescent's ventral stratium (area of the brain that is responsive to reward cues) is generally developed, their dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (responsible for cognitive and impulse control) does not develop until early adulthood (Casey, Jones, & Hare, 2008; Galvan et al., 2006; Gibbons et al., 2012). Their incomplete brain

development often results in an increased vulnerability to impulsive decision-making, as they choose short-term rewards over long-term consequences (Blakemore & Robbins, 2012).

Gender differences in impulse control. While it is known that males and females vary in their rates of substance abuse (Johnston et al., 2008), poor impulse control has been identified as a risk factor for alcohol and substance abuse for both males and females (Gullo & Dawe, 2008; King & Chassin, 2004; Kirisci, Tarter, Reynolds, & Vanyukov, 2006; Mezzich et al., 2007). King et al. (2011) found a major gender difference regarding impulsivity in that males tended to have more self-control and attention problems than females; however, both the males and females who had identified self-control and attention problems did not differ in their rate of change or improvement in either domain over time. Moreover, of the adolescents identified with self-control problems, females used cigarettes more than males (King et al., 2011). Walters (2014) found that adolescents who engaged in both substance abuse and criminal behavior had high scores on measures of impulsivity and unemotionality and had low scores on measures of impulse control and suppression of aggression. However, it was noted that more males were identified as engaging in criminal behavior, or both engaging in criminal behavior and substance abuse, than females (Walters, 2014).

Emotion regulation. Emotion regulation addresses the duration or magnitude of an emotional response and includes the goal of either increasing or decreasing those attributes of the response (Gross, 2013; Gross, Sheppes, & Urry, 2011). It is important to note that the realm of emotion regulation ranges from conscious, controlled, and effortful to unconscious, automatic, and effortless (Gross, 2013; Gyurak, Gross, & Etkin, 2011; Mauss, Bunge, & Gross, 2007). Nevertheless, as emotions arise, physiological and behavioral responses are often included as well (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014). While emotion regulation consists of all processes that are involved in altering an emotional state, it varies from coping in that it also includes the regulation of positive emotions, the anticipation of possible emotional triggers, and the evaluative process of emotional arousal (Gross & Thompson, 2007; Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014).

These varied responses are encompassed within an individual's emotional reactivity and are beneficial in highlighting the attentional and evaluative processes that result in an individual's multisystem whole-body response (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Gross & Thompson, 2007). Emotion regulation occurs when an individual either consciously or unconsciously sets a goal to influence the emotional process (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Gross, Sheppes, & Urry, 2011). Gross (2013) highlighted that emotion regulation can be either intrinsic or extrinsic, with the goal of altering the emotion response being initiated by the individual (intrinsic) or by another person through interpersonal interactions (extrinsic).

According to Gross and Jazaieri (2014), adaptive emotion regulation includes three important factors: awareness, goals, and strategies. Awareness of one's emotions, along with an understanding of the situation that activated them, is imperative regardless of whether the regulation is implicit or explicit, as this awareness will either strengthen or limit the range of strategies available for regulation (Barrett, Gross, Conner, & Benvenuto, 2001; Farb, Anderson, Irving, & Segal, 2014). The goal in emotion regulation is the result that the individual wants to achieve including increasing or decreasing the intensity, duration, or magnitude of the emotional experience (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014). Lastly, specific strategies are utilized to achieve the emotion regulation goal (Gross, 1998; Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Webb, Miles, & Sheeran, 2012), and strategies can be either adaptive or maladaptive in achieving the goal (Aldao & Nolen-Hoeksema, 2012; Gross, 2013; Parkinson & Totterdell, 1999; Webb et al., 2012). It is important to note that if one of these factors (awareness, goals, or strategies) are absent or stunted, an individual's ability to regulate their emotions in an adaptive and appropriate manner may be hindered.

Zimmerman and Iwanski (2014) reported developmental changes and age-specific preferences in many emotion regulation strategies, with a general trend towards more adaptive regulation as age increased. Zimmerman and Iwanski noted that the time period with the fewest emotion regulation strategies was middle adolescence. Moreover, middle adolescence is considered a developmental time that includes intense stressors and negative emotions (Lerner & Steinberg, 2009; Silk et al., 2003; Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014), in addition to unstable peer relationships (Furman & Collins, 2009) and conflict with parents (Laursen, Coy, & Collins, 1998).

As discussed, the increased emotionality in adolescence may be due to biological changes to the prefrontal cortex and related structures responsible for reward dependency (Somerville, Jones, & Casey, 2010); however, Zimmerman and Iwanski (2014) posited that it may also be reflective of developmental changes and age differences in the emotion regulation process. As an individual's cognitive, emotional, and social
development progresses, their emotional understanding becomes more sophisticated including long-term goals, recognition of their own and other's feelings, and the capability for insight into their own emotion-driven behaviors (Saarni et al., 2006; Thompson, 2011; Zimmerman, 1999). Adrian, Zeman, and Veits (2011) reported that numerous emotion regulation strategies develop in childhood, and Garnefski and Kraaij (2006) added that those strategies become increasingly more cognitive-based as the individual matures through adolescence.

Research regarding the development of emotion regulation strategies was mixed, as Blanchard-Fields and Coats (2008) found that adolescents rely more heavily on passive emotion regulation such as suppression or denial, while John and Gross (2004) found that suppression was utilized less as adolescents transitioned to adulthood. Zimmerman and Iwanski (2014) suggested that these diverging results were due to the assumption in many research studies that individuals use the same emotion regulation strategies for all emotions. Rather, Zimmerman and Iwanski outlined that the pattern for emotion-specific regulation strategies can be seen in infancy and childhood, and should be considered plausible for the remainder of the lifespan. Moreover, Endrerud and Vikan (2007) highlighted that strategy use and effectiveness for emotion regulation varies at all ages, and that even the effectiveness of an adolescent's specific strategy may vary depending on the intensity of an emotion.

Implications of emotion dysregulation. While the consequences of impulsivity have already been discussed including risky or criminal behaviors, deficits in emotion regulation have been linked to psychopathology and cognitive inflexibility. Deficits in

emotion regulation have been linked to many psychiatric disorders, with estimates from 40% to 75% of disorders containing emotion dysregulation (Berenbaum, Raghavan, Le, Vernon, & Gomez, 2003; Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Gross & Muñoz, 1995; Jazaieri, Urry, & Gross, 2013; Kring, 2008, 2010; Kring & Werner, 2004; Werner & Gross, 2010). Some disorders include emotion dysregulation as a primary symptom such as autism, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), and schizophrenia (Mazefsky, Pelphrey, & Dahl, 2012; Nigg, 2000), while anxiety and mood disorders are identified by the deficits in emotion regulation that lead to a dysregulated emotional state (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Gross and Jazaieri (2014) highlighted that problematic emotional intensity may lead to hyperactivity to negative emotions resulting in social anxiety disorder or major depressive disorder, or problematic emotional awareness may result in a panic disorder (hyperawareness) or bulimia nervosa (lack of awareness).

As discussed, goal-setting and effective strategies are essential in adaptive emotion regulation; thus, deficits in these areas can also contribute to psychopathology (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014). Healthy goal setting is evident when an individual weighs short- and long-term interests and balances them appropriately (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014); however, Bipolar I Disorder is an example of regulation goals that are dysfunctional, as many individuals experiencing those symptoms of grandiosity, racing thoughts, and euphoria are uninterested in regulating their emotional state (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Gross & Jazaieri, 2014). Lastly, problematic emotion regulation strategies are common in psychiatric disorders, including both the choice of strategy and the overall implementation of the chosen strategy (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014). An example of a dysfunctional choice in regulation strategy can be seen in an individual with agoraphobia who actively avoids feared locations and situations, while dysfunctional implementation of a regulation strategy can be seen in an individual with ADHD who has difficulty achieving their emotion regulation goal due to their symptoms of poor concentration, high distractibility, and deficits in memory (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Gross & Jazaieri, 2014).

An important consideration regarding the availability of resources and cognitive demands of emotion regulation should be made, as the effectiveness of goal setting and specific strategies are inconsequential if they are unlikely to be chosen or unable to be utilized due to the unavailability of cognitive resources (Gross & Jazaieri, 2014; Urry & Gross, 2010). Joormann and Vanderlind (2014) and Joormann, Yoon, and Siemer (2010) highlighted the importance of cognition in emotion regulation, as differences in cognitive control and abilities affect an individual's ability to regulate their affect. Cognitive control and flexibility are paramount to an appropriate emotional and behavioral response to new and changing situations (Hasher, Zacks, & May, 1999; Joormann & Vanderlind, 2014; Miyake & Friedman, 2012); however, the limitations of adolescence present a challenge to adaptive emotion regulation during this developmental phase, and a potential vulnerability to the complications of emotion dysregulation.

Gender differences in emotion regulation. Gender-specific preferences for both emotion regulation and expression seem to begin in middle childhood and early adolescence (Chaplin & Aldao, 2013; Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014). Males more often report using avoidance strategies, while females more often report using rumination and social support (Blanchard-Fields & Coats, 2008; Silk, Steinberg, & Morris, 2003; Vierhaus, Lohaus, & Ball, 2007; Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014). Saarni et al. (2006) speculated that gender differences in emotion regulation may reflect gender roles in socialization; however, a study has not yet attempted to replicate gender-specific emotion regulation with a large sample of adolescents (Zimmerman & Iwanski, 2014). Blakemore and Robbins (2012) reported that an adolescent's developing social brain was important in their decision-making, as emotion and social factors were highly influential in shaping and predicting adolescents' decision-making processes.

Social skills. The competency-based model of depression indicates an underlying relationship between poor social functioning and depressive symptoms in adolescence (Cole, 1991; Verboom et al., 2013). Specifically, children and adolescents with social deficits may receive negative peer feedback, triggering the onset of depressive symptoms (Verboom et al., 2013). The competency-based model asserts that children create their self-perception based on others' opinions of them; thus, a child who experiences negative peer feedback may adopt the negative view and develop a negative self-perception (Cole, 1991; Verboom et al., 2013). A child's negative self-perception makes them increasingly more vulnerable to the risk of depressive problems as they continue their development into adolescence (Verboom et al., 2013). Consequently, associations between an adolescent's perceived social well-being, such as their beliefs about their peer relationships, and actual social problems have been identified (Garnefski, 2000; Verboom et al., 2013).

Social problems can include strained relations with others, along with motor

difficulties that are often linked to poor social functioning such as speech impairments, tics, poor spatial awareness, and being clumsy (Verboom et al., 2013). Verboom et al. (2013) suggested that social problems may lead to negative peer responses, and increase depressive problems. Regardless of this plausible role of peer evaluations, several studies have linked poor social functioning and social problems to depressive symptoms (Garnefski, 2000; Groeben, Perren, Stadelmann, & von Klitzing, 2011; Verboom et al., 2013; Vernberg, 1990). Lastly, some studies have found a cycle in which social problems have increased depressive symptoms, and increased depressive symptoms have increased the likelihood of poor social functioning (Verboom et al., 2013; Vernberg, 1991). Vernberg (1991) concluded that depressive problems and poor social functioning predict each other over time.

Gender differences in social skills. It has been found that females were more sensitive to social issues than males (Oldehinkel et al., 2007). However, Verboom et al. (2013) and Vernberg (1991) found that there were no gender differences regarding the cycle that depressive symptoms and poor social functioning predicted each other. Another study found a higher association between depressive issues and poor academic performance in males (Derdikman-Eiron et al., 2011), while other studies found a higher association between depressive issues found a higher association between depressive symptoms and overall functional impairment in females (Nagar, Sherer, Chen, & Aparasu, 2010; Undheim & Sund, 2005).

Protective Factors

Despite these prevalent risk factors within adolescent psychosocial development, protective factors have also been identified to strengthen an individual's overall social

functioning. Mavroveli et al. (2007) reported that trait emotional intelligence (EI) was positively associated with prosocial behaviors, leadership qualities, and adaptive coping styles in male and female adolescents. Adolescents with higher levels of trait EI experienced less peer rejection, which is a common precursor of social withdrawal, isolation, and depression within this age group (Mavroveli et al., 2007). Moreover, social competence was correlated with lower levels of delinquency and antisocial behavior, and it was concluded that EI may serve as a protective factor, as peer relationships are essential to emotional and social development in adolescence (Mavroveli et al., 2007).

In addition, recent studies in the area of social neuroscience have discovered that the processing imbalance between an adolescent's dopaminergic reward system and their prefrontal systems is exacerbated by social factors (Gibbons et al., 2012). For example, when compared to adults' brains, adolescents' ventral striatums (reward centers) are more active around their friends and peers (Chein, Albert, O'Brien, Uckert, & Steinberg, 2011). This increased activity in the reward centers of an adolescent brain predicts impulsive and risky behavior when in the presence of peers. More specifically, the rewards of impulsive behaviors such as reckless driving and substance use are increased when done in the presence of friends (Gibbons et al., 2012).

Interventions for Psychosocial Skill Development

Other studies have been conducted to examine the impact of teaching psychosocial skills (Harrell et al., 2009; Lemstra et al., 2010; Oklan & Henderson, 2014; Reyna & Mills, 2014). However, a review of school-based literature revealed a common problem with many existing programs in that they only addressed one specific behavioral problem or lagging psychosocial skill, and lacked the diversity to comprehensively address multiple behaviors or skills (Cook et al., 2015; Rones & Hoagwood, 2000). Based on their findings, Harrell et al. (2009) reported increased social self-efficacy and global self-concept, along with a decrease in problematic internalizing behaviors (depression and anxiety), following participation in a program designed to improve social skills deficits in adolescents. Harrell et al. concluded that improving adolescents' selfefficacy was imperative, as it was often predictive of future social behavior, and a protective factor for later maladjustment due to the importance placed on interpersonal relationships. The findings presented in Harrell et al. bolstered the evidence of intervention efficacy of general social skills programs in addressing emotional and behavioral issues in adolescence.

Lemstra et al. (2010) reviewed school-based marijuana and alcohol prevention programs for adolescents, and found that programs that included assertiveness and social skills training, in addition to anti-drug information, were the most effective in reducing marijuana and alcohol use. It was suggested that many adolescent behaviors are interrelated; therefore, intervention programs that teach multiple skills that share common determinants will be most successful in the reduction of problematic behaviors (Lemstra et al., 2010). Additionally, comprehensive programs that teach or strengthen multiple psychosocial skills are cost-effective, and can easily be adopted by clinical, school, and community settings (Lemstra et al., 2010).

While these standalone programs have shown success in preventing problematic behaviors that stem from lagging psychosocial skills (Cook et al., 2015; Fixsen, Blasé,

Naoom, & Wallace, 2009), it prompted the question of whether a more universal approach, using a program with more broad-spectrum coverage of teaching psychosocial skills, could be more effective (Cook et al., 2015; Domitrovich et al., 2010; Osher & Fleischman, 2005). Cook et al. (2015) reported the need for integrated approaches and programs, as few studies have investigated a comprehensive approach to addressing multiple lagging psychosocial skills at the same time (Reinke, Herman, & Ialongo, 2012).

Lions Quest SFA

Lions Quest SFA was developed as a substance abuse prevention program, and is included on SAMHSA's (2007) National Registry of Evidence-Based Programs and Practices, and is described as an education program based in the school setting for students Grades 6–8 (ages 10–14). Lions Quest SFA focuses on youth development and cultivates social and emotional learning that will help students be successful in school and later in life (SAMHSA, 2007). According to SAMHSA, social cognitive approaches are used within the program to help students develop the following skills: good citizenship skills, strong positive character, skills and attitudes consistent with a drug-free lifestyle, and an ethic of service to others.

According to SAMHSA (2007), Lions Quest SFA targets mental health promotion and substance abuse prevention. The program's emphasis on mental health and group format for delivery has made it a convenient option for mental health providers who need an evidence-based curriculum for group therapy sessions (SAMHSA, 2007). Lions Quest SFA is presented in a group session format and includes social-cognitive approaches (role-playing, peer teaching, adult modeling) to enhance social and emotional competencies in adolescent students. The program's service delivery is flexible, as the sessions may be adapted to a variety of differing formats based on time constraints (SAMHSA, 2007).

Though a prevention program, Lions Quest SFA's emphasis on increasing selfefficacy has been correlated with decreases in adolescents who are already abusing substances (Eisen, Zellman, & Murray, 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2006). Furthermore, its alignment with common cognitive behavioral techniques (McLeod, 2010) warranted the exploration of its intervention efficacy in regards to teaching other psychosocial skills. The specific application of Lions Quest SFA examined in this study was used with adolescents in a school-based mental health program to improve problematic behaviors that manifested in the classroom.

Summary

Adolescence is a developmental phase defined by impulsive decision-making, maladaptive emotion regulation, and social difficulties that often result in harmful experiences and long-term consequences (Archambault et al., 2009; Nielsen et al., 2011). There are negative short- and long-term outcomes (school dropout, incarceration, and adult unemployment) for both male and female adolescents with psychosocial problems who do not receive effective interventions (Archambault et al., 2009; Nielsen et al., 2011). Therefore, schools have been tasked with providing programs that teach the necessary competencies to succeed emotionally and socially, in addition to academically (Adelman & Taylor, 2006; Cook et al., 2015; Wagner, Newman, Cameto, & Levine, 2006). Psychosocial theory explained the developmental process of psychosocial skills and emphasized that it is possible to teach lagging skills (Erikson, 1950, 1963; Ro & Clark, 2013). Addressing important psychosocial skills facilitates an alignment with healthy behaviors and helps to promote a healthy and productive adulthood (McNeely & Blanchard, 2009).

The three identified skills that have received considerable attention in the literature are impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills. Recent empirical evidence found that youth development interventions can lead to positive emotional and behavioral outcomes (Birkhead, Riser, Mesler, 2009). The focus of this study was on Lions Quest SFA, which began as a substance abuse prevention program. As such, most of the research on this program focused on the prevention efforts of substance abuse behaviors (Eisen, Zellman, & Murray, 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2006). In the next chapter, I will present the methods of this study for examining the extent to which adolescents improved in lagging psychosocial skills during their participation in Lions Quest SFA.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the effect of the Lions Quest SFA program on the development of lagging psychosocial skills, as measured by the combined assessment score on the ALSUP checklist. In addition, I also examined the role of gender to see if there were differences in psychosocial skill development between young women and men. The secondary data used in this study was retrieved from Horizon Behavioral Health's archives and contained the pre- and posttest ALSUP scores and gender of students from two central Virginia schools, who participated in the Lions Quest program in the 2013–2014 school year.

This chapter will include an explanation of this study's research design, methodology, threats to validity, and ethical considerations. I will also provide a rationale for the design chosen to address the research questions of the study. In Chapter 3, I will also present information regarding the secondary data collection and analysis process along with a description of the precautions that were taken to adhere to both ethical standards and confidentiality.

Research Design and Rationale

In this study, I used a correlational design to assess change resulting from participation in the Lions Quest SFA program. The independent variables were time and gender; specifically, one school year starting in August, when the pretest was completed, and ending in June, when the posttest was completed. The ALSUP score recorded before intervention was the covariate, and gender was the grouping variable. The dependent variable was the ALSUP score recorded after intervention, which was the single measure assessment score of lagging psychosocial skills including a combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. The design and analytic choices for this study were consistent with research designs that have two independent variables and seek to identify possible changes and relationships between variables over time. There were no noted time or resource constraints for this study.

Methodology

Population

The target population of this study was middle school students who received school-based services through Horizon Behavioral Health in the 2013–2014 school year. The estimated size of the target population was approximately 300 adolescents. The accessible population was 66 adolescents, as the data from only two central Virginia middle schools were accessible.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The sampling strategy I used in this study was one of convenience due to the availability of the data. In this specific application of the Lions Quest SFA program, students were referred to the school-based mental health program based on identified emotional or behavioral problems that required support in the classroom setting. The group sessions did not contain more than 10 adolescents and two staff members at any one time and were held once per week during the school day. The program began during the first week of school and continued every week until the last week of school. I used the *a priori* G Power application (Sheperis, 2009) to identify an appropriate sample size with

.80 power for an ANCOVA. The results n = 55 for an actual power of .95 and an effect size of 0.5 (Critical F = 4.07).

Procedures for Secondary Data Collection

The data were originally collected from adolescents in conjunction with the enrollment and treatment process within Horizon Behavioral Health's school-based mental health services portfolio. Adolescents were referred to the service by the school system, and the secondary data for this study did not contain any names or other identifiable data. The data were collected and stored by qualified mental health professionals employed by Horizon Behavioral Health. As previously stated, I worked for Horizon Behavioral Health at the time of the study; however, I was never present at or involved with any of the programs addressed in this study. A letter to the chief executive officer of Horizon Behavioral Health was submitted requesting permission to access the secondary data (See Appendix A). His approval granted permission to access and analyze the secondary data required for this study. Following Walden University's Institutional Review Board's (IRB) approval, I obtained the secondary data set from Horizon Behavioral Health's privacy officer via e-mail and attached file (Walden IRB approval no. 06-15-16-0352112). Pre- and posttest ALSUP scores were only collected based on one school year's participation in the Lions Quest SFA program; the secondary data set only included pretest scores completed in August 2013 and posttest scores completed in June 2014.

Instrumentation

The ALSUP checklist was developed by Dr. Greene in 2008 and is a questionnaire battery that allows mental health professionals to rank items assessing lagging skills on a 4-point scale to measure the frequency each of the behaviors occurs. (Greene, 2008). The original instrument contained four areas: lagging skills, unsolved problems-school, unsolved problems-home, and unsolved problems-other (Greene, 2008). However, only the 24 items assessing lagging skills were collected as the secondary data used in this study. These items were added together to create an overall score. The ALSUP's original intent was to help parents, educators, and mental health providers assess lagging skills in order to target an intervention for an individual child; however, it has not been used as a tool to measure change over time, and therefore, the measurement validity was interpreted cautiously. I contacted Dr. Greene to discuss the availability of psychometric data, and Dr. Greene reported that he did not have any psychometric information on the ALSUP (R. Greene, personal communication, April 9, 2016).

The construct validity of this study was weak due to the lack of identifiable subscales and my inability to psychometrically examine interitem correlations. However, I critically examined ALSUP items against psychometrically valid constructs in the literature and suggested that this measure had some face validity for these three identified psychosocial skills. Impulse control was defined as having competence in the areas of future-oriented planning, decision-making, and focus, and a priority of long-term consequences over short-term rewards (Berg et al., 2015; Block, 1995). The ALSUP included questions that examined an adolescent's abilities for logical sequence, maintaining focus, and considering outcomes when making decisions (Greene, 2008). Research highlighted emotion regulation as the ability to moderate or control one's emotional experience (Gross, 2002; Watford & Stafford, 2015), and the ALSUP included questions that gauge an individual's ability to manage their emotional response and assess for cognitive distortions, biases, and chronic irritability (Greene, 2008). Lastly, the ability to process social information and engage in appropriate social behaviors is an indicator of an individual's level of social skills (Fraser et al., 2005), and the ALSUP included questions regarding the adolescent's ability to interpret social cues and display basic social skills (Greene, 2008).

The ALSUP is in the public domain. Nevertheless, I contacted Dr. Greene and received his permission to reproduce it in this study (R. Greene, personal communication, February 25, 2016). Appendix B contains a copy of the instrument.

Data Analysis

I used an ANCOVA in SPSS to address the research questions, as in this study I analyzed pre- and posttest ALSUP scores to identify whether participation in the Lions Quest SFA program improved lagging psychosocial skills, defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills, and whether gender was a variable of change. An alpha level of .05 was used to identify whether a significant change occurred in the ALSUP scores, along with gender differences. This study addressed the following two specific research questions:

Research Question 1: Does participation in the Lions Quest SFA program improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse

control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist?

 H_01 : Participation in the Lions Quest SFA program does not improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist.

 H_A 1: Participation in the Lions Quest SFA program does improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist.

Research Question 2: Does gender affect the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist?

 H_02 : There is no difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist between males and females.

 H_A2 : There is a difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist between males and females.

Threats to Validity

In this study, I used secondary data that was collected by qualified mental health professionals. It was presupposed that the observation and assessment skills of these professionals were accurate and that veritable and meaningful data were collected and submitted. As mentioned, differences in service delivery by the mental health professionals could have existed and could have impacted an adolescent's willingness to participate in the Lions Quest SFA program, or the detail of content covered in each group session, which may have indirectly influenced their pre- and posttest ALSUP scores.

The main threat to both the external and internal validity in this research study was that the secondary data set was based on ALSUP scores from adolescents who most likely received alternative mental health services, in addition to the group sessions using the Lions Quest SFA program. As stated, this study had two prominent limitations: convenience of the data set (posing threats to both internal and external validity) and the limitations of the ALSUP as the assessment tool (construct validity). There were two concerns that threatened the construct validity of the measurement tool. The ALSUP was used to identify improvements in psychosocial skills that included well-known concepts of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. However, the score was a combination of these skills, as the ALSUP does not provide sub scores for any of these concepts. Therefore, it was not possible to determine (a) if these dimensions were actually relevant to change and (b) the relative importance of each of the dimensions. Although the ALSUP checklist has face validity, measurement validity and reliability have not been tested or documented.

This research study had three additional threats to internal validity, as the study did not have a control group, so I did not have control over the conditions of data collection, and there was no manipulated independent variable. The absence of these attributes means the researcher could not minimize the effects of potentially confounding variables (Creswell, 2009; Frankfort-Nachmias & Nachmias, 2008). Lastly, the study had a serious limitation for generalizability since it was not a random sample; therefore, the findings should not be generalized to the larger population. However, the secondary data came from a real-world setting, and this strengthened the ecological validity of the study (Creswell, 2009).

Ethical Considerations

I followed all ethical standards and limits and adhered to the IRB guidelines for informed consent and confidentiality. The secondary data did not include any identifiable information such as names, addresses, or Social Security numbers, and all data were deidentified by the privacy officer at Horizon Behavioral Health prior to the study. Horizon Behavioral Health granted me the necessary permission to utilize the secondary data (see Appendix A), and approval from Walden University's IRB preceded all my data collection efforts. Horizon Behavioral Health will have access to the research results and will be presented with the findings at completion of the study. As already noted, I worked for Horizon Behavioral Health at the time of this study; however, all secondary data obtained were de-identified prior to me receiving it to ensure complete confidentiality. I will delete the Microsoft Excel spreadsheet containing all of the secondary data at the conclusion of the study.

Summary

I chose this design using secondary data due to the analysis of pre- and posttest data to identify whether lagging psychosocial skills, defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, improved as a result of participation in the Lion Quest SFA program. Additionally, I examined the role of gender to assess whether it was a variable of change. An ANCOVA was used to analyze the secondary dataset. In the next chapter, I will discuss the data collection process and statistical results.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

Lions Quest SFA focuses on youth development and cultivates social and emotional learning that helps students be successful in school and later in life (SAMHSA, 2007). Though a substance abuse prevention program, Lions Quest SFA emphasizes increasing self-efficacy (Eisen, Zellman, & Murray, 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2006), and its inclusion of common cognitive behavioral techniques (McLeod, 2010) warranted the exploration of its intervention efficacy in regards to teaching other psychosocial skills. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the effect of the Lions Quest SFA program on the development of lagging psychosocial skills, which included impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, and to determine if there were gender differences in psychosocial skills development. The research questions and hypotheses for the study were as follows:

Research Question 1: Does participation in the Lions Quest SFA program improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist?

 H_01 : Participation in the Lions Quest SFA program does not improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist.

 H_A1 : Participation in the Lions Quest SFA program does improve lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist.

Research Question 2: Does gender affect the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist?

 H_02 : There is no difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist between males and females.

 H_A2 : There is a difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, as measured by the pre- and posttest scores of the ALSUP checklist between males and females.

This chapter will include an overview of the data collection process, a review of the research questions and hypotheses testing, the results of the data analyses, and a summary of the findings.

Data Collection

The data for this study were collected in 1 day. I e-mailed the privacy officer at Horizon Behavioral Health requesting access to the de-identified secondary dataset and attached copies of the Letter of Cooperation and Data Use Agreement signed by the CEO of the company. The privacy officer e-mailed me the dataset as an attached file. The file contained the de-identified data for 66 adolescents who participated in the Lions Quest SFA program in the 2013–2014 school year. It is not known if the program was administered as planned, nor if there were any unusual or adverse consequences that occurred while the data were being collected.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

The target population of this study was middle school students who received school-based services through Horizon Behavioral Health in the 2013–2014 school year. The estimated size of the target population was approximately 300 adolescents; however, the accessible population was 66 adolescents, as the data from only two central Virginia middle schools were accessible. The secondary data set contained pre- and posttest scores from 30 female students and 36 male students.

Descriptive statistics for the pre- and posttest ALSUP scores are noted in Table 1, and the results of the Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests suggested that both the pretest ALSUP scores (p = .200; p = .691) and posttest ALSUP scores (p = .200; p = .399) were normally distributed. There was a positive correlation between the two variables, r = .804, n = 66, p < 0.001. In addition, ALSUP score differences by gender are outlined in Table 2.

Table 1

Pre- and Posttest ALSUP Scores

	Pretest ALSUP Score	Posttest ALSUP Score	
Minimum	10	8	
Maximum	96	84	
M	59.89	53.05	
SD	19.41	16.59	
Skewness	214	154	
Kurtosis	252	157	

Table 2

ALSUP Score Differences by Gender

ALSUP Score Differences by			
Gender $(n = 66)$	Pretest ALSUP Score	Posttest ALSUP Score	
Male	M = 63.39 (SD = 17.82)	M = 55.03 (SD = 14.54)	
Female	M = 55.70 (SD = 20.69)	M = 50.67 (SD = 18.75)	
Total	M = 59.89 (SD = 19.41)	<i>M</i> = 53.05 (<i>SD</i> = 16.59)	

Research Questions Results

I conducted an ANCOVA to determine whether a statistical relationship existed between the pre- and posttest ALSUP scores, and to identify whether gender was a variable of change. Statistical significance was determined at $\alpha = .05$. To answer the first research question, I conducted a paired samples *t*-test to compare the pre- and posttest scores for the entire group. On average, pretest scores (M = 59.89, SE = 2.32) were higher than posttest scores (M = 53.05, SE = 1.99). The difference, 6.85, BCa 95% CI [4.0, 9.7], was significant *t*(65) = 4.8, *p* < 0.001, and represented a small to medium-sized effect, *d* = 0.35, as outlined in Table 2. These results indicated that ALSUP scores were significantly reduced from before to after the program and the null hypothesis could be rejected.

For the second research question, I conducted an ANCOVA using the ALSUP pretest as the covariate, and gender as the grouping variable. As shown in Table 4, there was no significant effect of gender on the posttest ALSUP score after controlling for the effect of the pretest ALSUP score, F(2, 63) = 0.15, p = 0.705. Although gender differences were not found in the posttests, I used a one-way ANOVA to determine whether there were gender differences in the pretests; however, no significant differences were found in the pretest scores either, F(1, 64) = 2.63, p = 0.11. The null hypothesis for the second research question could not be rejected, suggesting that there was no difference in the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills, defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills, between males and females.

Table 3

Source	SS	df	MS	Partial Eta
Corrected Model	11583	2	5791.69	.647
Intercept	815.42	1	815.42	.114
Pretest	11272.2	1	11272.2	.641
Gender	14.51	1	14.51	.002

ANCOVA Summary

Summary

The results of this research study indicated that the ALSUP scores were significantly reduced from before to after the program, suggesting that participation in the Lions Quest SFA program may have contributed to the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills, defined as the combination of impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. However, gender was not found to be a variable of change in this study. In the final chapter, I will discuss the findings in greater detail, including the limitations of the study, and then conclude with recommendations and implications for future research based on the overall findings of this study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

The mental and behavioral health of children and adolescents is a national concern, and schools are being tasked with ensuring that their students have the academic, behavioral, and emotional support that they need (Gibbons et al., 2012). The purpose of this quantitative study was to identify whether the Lions Quest SFA program contributed to developing lagging psychosocial skills in adolescents, including impulse control, emotion regulation, and positive social skills. Additionally, I examined the role of gender to identify whether it affected the improvement in lagging psychosocial skills while participating in the Lions Quest SFA program. The results of this study found that ALSUP scores reduced from pretest to posttest, suggesting that participation in the Lions Quest SFA program may have contributed to improving lagging psychosocial skills.

Interpretation of the Findings

The findings of this research study align with Erikson's (1950, 1963) psychosocial theory of child development and other research studies (Harrell et al., 2009; Lemstra et al., 2010; Oklan & Henderson, 2014; Reyna & Mills, 2014) regarding the importance of teaching psychosocial skills. However, the lack of gender difference found in this study warrants further study and discussion. King et al. (2011) and Walters (2014) found gender differences in impulsivity in that males tended to have more self-control and attention problems than females, and Oldehinkel et al. (2007) found that females were more sensitive to social issues than males. The lack of subscores for impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills on the ALSUP, in addition to the lack of a control group, make it difficult to compare this study's findings regarding gender differences with existing studies that contain more specific findings.

Additionally, as noted in previous chapters, my review of school-based literature revealed a common element with many existing programs in that they only addressed one specific behavioral problem or lagging psychosocial skill and lacked the diversity to comprehensively address multiple behaviors or skills (Cook et al., 2015; Rones & Hoagwood, 2000). While these standalone programs have shown success in preventing problematic behaviors that stem from lagging psychosocial skills (Cook et al., 2015; Fixsen et al., 2009), the question of whether a more universal approach, using a program with more broad-spectrum coverage of teaching psychosocial skills, remained relatively unexplored (Cook et al., 2015; Domitrovich et al., 2010; Osher & Fleischman, 2005). Moreover, Cook et al. (2015) reported the need for integrated approaches and programs, as few studies have investigated a comprehensive approach to addressing multiple lagging psychosocial skills at the same time (Reinke et al., 2012). The findings of this research study extended the knowledge in this area by identifying Lions Quest SFA, which began as a substance abuse prevention program, as a potentially effective program for teaching lagging psychosocial skills to adolescents.

Limitations of the Study

The weakness of the ALSUP tool, as used in this study, contributed to two construct validity concerns. The first concern referred to the applicability of the tool to address aggregate change over time. The original intent of the ALSUP was to help parents, educators, and mental health providers assess lagging skills in order to target an intervention for an individual child, and not to specifically measure change over time; therefore, the measurement validity must be interpreted cautiously (Creswell, 2009).

The second concern about construct validity of the ALSUP was my inability to psychometrically examine interitem correlations of the individual subscales. The ALSUP measured a combination score of impulse control, emotion regulation, and social skills, and the dataset did not provide subscores for any of these dimensions. Therefore, it was not possible to determine (a) if these dimensions were internally consistent and psychometrically unique and (b) the relative importance of each of the dimensions.

This research study had three additional threats to internal validity, as the study did not have a control group, I did not have control over the conditions of data collection, and there was no manipulated independent variable. The absence of these attributes meant that I could not minimize the effects of potentially confounding variables. As such, it should not be assumed that the improvements made in psychosocial skills are entirely due to the students' participation in the Lions Quest SFA program.

Regarding external validity limitations, this data set was selected for its convenience to me. Further, the cases were not randomly sampled from the population of students attending Lions Quest SFA programs. Thus, caution is warranted regarding the appropriateness of generalizing these findings to the population of students who attend these kinds of programs.

Recommendations

The findings of this study suggested that more comprehensive programs that teach multiple skills at one time could be effective in the school setting; however, there are several recommendations for further research stemming from the limitations identified in this study. I recommend that future studies use a more valid and reliable instrument to measure changes in psychosocial skills. Moreover, future instruments should include subscales for each skill being examined to identify the importance of each dimension and whether they are relevant to change. I also suggest that the ALSUP be examined for its potential as an assessment to measure change over time for aggregate analyses, in addition to its function as an individual assessment tool.

A second recommendation for future studies is to include a control group, which would be beneficial in minimizing potentially confounding variables. Specifically, the inclusion of a control group would allow the researcher to control the effects of maturity in adolescents as they develop throughout the school year. Moreover, using a random sample and excluding adolescents that received additional mental health interventions to the Lions Quest SFA program would allow the researcher to more accurately evaluate the efficacy of the program.

Although gender was not a variable of change in this study, another recommendation would be to use age or grade level as covariates for future study. This study included adolescents in middle school, but the secondary dataset did not capture a specific age or grade level; therefore, possible differences between each age or grade level could not be analyzed. Lastly, a final recommendation would for a longitudinal study to follow adolescents for up to a year after their participation in the program to identify if their progress is being sustained over time.

Implications

Psychosocial skills are imperative to healthy adolescent development, and theory and research indicate that improvement of psychosocial skills increases their ability to navigate the challenges and transitions of adolescence (Birkhead et al., 2009; McNeely & Blanchard, 2009). The results of this study indicated that the ALSUP scores were significantly reduced from before to after the Lions Quest SFA program, suggesting that participation in the program may have contributed to the improvement of lagging psychosocial skills. Despite the limitations identified, the results of this study have added a small piece of evidentiary support to contribute to the body of knowledge in psychosocial skill development.

I intend to present the study's findings to the CEO and Board of Directors for Horizon Behavioral Health, along with a local presentation to central Virginia school administrators who may have students that could benefit from this program. In addition to describing the study results, I will highlight the limitation of the instrument for further research and suggest ways of collecting data and examining the psychometric properties of the ALSUP to demonstrate measurement validity. This could provide additional insight into the benefits of the Lions Quest SFA program as a treatment intervention for lagging psychosocial skills.

Conclusion

Adolescence is a developmental phase defined by impulsive decision-making, maladaptive emotion regulation, and social difficulties that often result in harmful experiences and long-term consequences (Archambault et al., 2009; Nielsen et al., 2011). Schools have been tasked with providing programs that teach the necessary competencies to succeed emotionally and socially, in addition to academically (Adelman & Taylor, 2006; Cook et al., 2015; Wagner et al., 2006). Positive youth development interventions have been found to prevent risky behaviors in adolescents (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2013) and have been linked to positive emotional and behavioral outcomes (Birkhead et al., 2009; McNeely & Blanchard, 2009). Although most of the research on Lions Quest SFA has focused on prevention efforts for substance abuse behaviors (Eisen et al., 2003; U.S. Department of Education, 2006), the results of this small sample, secondary research effort suggest that this program may contribute to improving lagging psychosocial skills. Although further study is recommended due to the limitations of this study, it is a step closer in addressing the need for comprehensive interventions that provide more broad-spectrum coverage for multiple problematic behaviors at the same time.

References

- Adelman, H. S., & Taylor, L. (2006). Mental health in schools and public health. *Public Health Reports*, 121, 294–298.
- Adrian, M., Zeman, J., & Veits, G. (2011). Methodological implications of the affect revolution: A 35-year review of emotion regulation assessment in children. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 110, 171–197.
- Albert, D., & Steinberg, L. (2011). Age differences in strategic planning as indexed by the Tower of London. *Child Development*, 82(5), 1501-1517. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01613.x
- Aldao, A., & Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2012). When are adaptive strategies most predictive of psychopathology? *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*, 276–281. doi:10.1037/a0023598
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Apsche, J. A., Bass, C. K., Zeiter, J. S., & Houston, M. A. (2008). Family mode deactivation therapy in a residential setting: Treating adolescents with conduct disorder and multi-axial diagnosis. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 4(4), 328-339. doi:10.1037/h0100863
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Morizot, J., & Pagani, L. (2009). Adolescent behavioral, affective, and cognitive engagement in school: Relationship to dropout. *Journal of School Health*, 79, 408–415. doi:10.1111/j.1746-1561.2009.00428.x

Barrett, L. F., Gross, J. J., Conner, T., & Benvenuto, M. (2001). Knowing what you're

feeling and knowing what to do about it: Mapping the relation between emotion differentiation and emotion regulation. *Cognition & Emotion*, *15*, 713–724. doi: 10.1080/02699930143000239

- Baumeister, R. F., Schmeichel, B. J., & Vohs, K. D. (2007). Self-regulation and the executive function: The self as controlling agent. In A. W. Kruglanski & E. T. Higgins (Eds.), *Social psychology: Handbook of basic principles* (2nd ed.; pp. 516–539). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Berenbaum, H., Raghavan, C., Le, H. N., Vernon, L. L., & Gomez, J. J. (2003). A taxonomy of emotional disturbances. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 10, 206–226. doi:10.1093/clipsy.bpg011
- Berg, J. M., Latzman, R. D., Bliwise, N. G., & Lilienfeld, S. O. (2015). Parsing the heterogeneity of impulsivity: A meta-analytic review of the behavioral implications of the UPPS for psychopathology. *Psychological Assessment*, 15(1), 1-18. doi:10.1037/pas0000111
- Berk, L. E. (2010). *Development through the lifespan* (5th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Birkhead, G. S., Riser, M. H., & Mesler, K. (2006). Youth development is a public health approach. Retrieved from http://journals.lww.com/jphmp/Fulltext/2006/11001/ Youth_Development_Is_a_Public_Health_Approach_1.aspx

Blair, B. L., Perry, N. B., O'Brien, M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L.

(2015). Identifying developmental cascades among differentiated dimensions of social competence and emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, *51*(8), 1062-1073. doi:10.1037/a0039472

- Blakemore, S., & Robbins, T. W. (2012). Decision-making in the adolescent brain. *Nature Neuroscience*, *15*(9), 1184-1191. doi:10.1038/nn.3177
- Blanchard-Fields, F., & Coats, A. (2008). The experience of anger and sadness in everyday problems impacts age differences in emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, 44, 1547–1556.
- Block, J. (1995). A contrarian view of the five-factor approach to personality description. *Psychological Bulletin, 117*, 187–215. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.117.2.187
- Brauer, J. R., & Tittle, C. R. (2012). Social learning theory and human reinforcement. *Sociological Spectrum*, *32*(2), 157-177. doi:10.1080/02732173.2012.646160
- Caldarella, P., & Merrell, K. W. (1997). Common dimensions of social skills of children and adolescents: A taxonomy of positive behaviors. *School Psychology Review*, 26(2), 264.
- Campbell, D. T., & Stanley, J. C. (1963). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research*. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.
- Campbell-Heider, N., Tuttle, J., & Knapp, T. R. (2009). The effect of positive adolescent life skills training on long term outcomes for high-risk teens. *Journal of Addictions Nursing*, 20(1), 6-15. doi:10.1080/10884600802693165
- Carney, J. V. (2000). Bullied to death: Perceptions of peer abuse and suicidal behavior during adolescence. *School Psychology International*, *21*, 213–223.

- Carroll, K. M., Easton, C. J., Nich, C., Hunkele, K. A., Neavins, T. M., Sinha, R.,...
 Rounsaville, B. J. (2006). The use of contingency management and motivational/skills-building therapy to treat young adults with marijuana dependence. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology*, 74(5), 955-966. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.74.5.955
- Casey, B. J., Jones, R. M., & Hare, T.A. (2008). The adolescent brain. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1124*, 111–126.
- Castellanos-Ryan, N., Parent, S., Vitaro, F., Tremblay, R. E., & Séguin, J. R. (2013).
 Pubertal development, personality, and substance use: A 10-year longitudinal study from childhood to adolescence. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 122*(3), 782-796. doi:10.1037/a0033133
- Chaplin, T. M., & Aldao, A. (2013). Gender differences in emotion expression in children: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(4), 735–765.
- Chein, J., Albert, D., O'Brien, L., Uckert, K., & Steinberg, L. (2011). Peers increase adolescent risk taking by enhancing activity in the brain's reward circuitry. *Developmental Science*, 14, 1-10.
- Cole, D. A. (1991). Preliminary support for a competency-based model of depression in children. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 100, 181–190. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.100.2.181
- Cone, J. C., Golden, J. A., & Hall, C. W. (2009). The effect of short-term cognitivebehavioral group therapy on adolescents with attachment difficulties. *Behavioral Development Bulletin*, 15(1), 29-35. doi:10.1037/h0100511

- Cook, C. R., Frye, M., Slemrod, T., Lyon, A. R., Renshaw, T. L., & Zhang, Y. (2015).
 An integrated approach to universal prevention: Independent and combined effects of PBIS and SEL on youths' mental health. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *30*(2), 166-183. doi:10.1037/spq0000102
- Creswell, J. (2009). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Derdikman-Eiron, R., Indredavik, M. S., Bratberg, G. H., Taraldsen, G., Bakken, I. J., & Colton, M. (2011). Gender differences in subjective well-being, self-esteem and psychosocial functioning in adolescents with symptoms of anxiety and depression: Findings from the nordtrondelag health study. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, *52*(3), 261-267. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9450.2010.00859.x
- Domitrovich, C. E., Bradshaw, C. P., Poduska, J., Hoagwood, K., Buckley, J., Olin,
 S.,... Ialongo, N. S. (2008). Maximizing the implementation quality of evidencebased preventive interventions in schools: A conceptual framework. *Research Policy*, 1, 6–28.
- Dunn, T. W., Vittengl, J. R., Clark, L. A., Carmody, T., Thase, M. E., & Jarrett, R. B. (2012). Change in psychosocial functioning and depressive symptoms during acute-phase cognitive therapy for depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 42, 317–326. doi:10.1017/S0033291711001279
- Eisen, M., Zellman, G. L., & Murray, D. M. (2003). Evaluating the Lions-Quest "Skills for Adolescence" drug education program: Second-year behavior outcomes. *Addictive Behaviors*, 28, 883–897.
- Eisenberg, N., Hofer, C., & Vaughan, J. (2007). Effortful control and its socioemotional consequences. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 287–306). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Endrerud, M., & Vikan, A. (2007). Five to seven year old children's strategies for regulating anger, sadness, and fear. *Nordic Psychology*, *59*, 127–134.
- Epstein, D. E., Hawkins, W. E., Covi, L., Umbricht, A., & Preston, K. L. (2003).
 Cognitive behavioral therapy plus contingency management for cocaine use:
 Findings during treatment and across 12-month follow-up. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 17*, 73–82.

Erikson, E. H. (1950). Childhood and society. New York, NY: Norton.

- Erikson, E. H. (1963). Youth: Change and challenge. New York, NY: Basic Books Inc.
- Evans, S. W., Owens, J. S., & Bunford, N. (2013). Evidence-based psychosocial treatments for children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*. doi:10.1080/15374416.2013.850700
- Farb, N. A. S., Anderson, A. K., Irving, J. A., & Segal, Z. V. (2014). Mindfulness interventions and emotion regulation. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (2nd ed., pp. 548–567). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Feldman, R. S. (2008). Development across the lifespan (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Fixsen, D. L., Blasé, K. A., Naoom, S. F., & Wallace, F. (2009). Core implementation

components. Research on Social Work Practice, 19, 531-540.

doi:10.1177/1049731509335549

Frankfort-Nachmias, C., & Nachmias, D. (2008). *Research methods in the social sciences* (7th ed.). New York, NY: Worth Publishers.

Fraser, M. W., Galinsky, M. J., Smokowski, P. R., Day, S. H., Terzian, M. A., Rose, R. A., & Guo, S. (2005). Social information-processing skills training to promote social competence and prevent aggressive behavior in the third grades. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*(6), 1045-1055. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.73.6.1045

- Furman, W., & Collins, W. (2009). Adolescent romantic relationships and experiences. In K. H. Rubin, W. M. Bukowski, & B. Laursen (Eds.), *Handbook of peer interactions, relationships, and groups* (pp. 341–360). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Galvan, A., Hare, T. A., Parra, C. E., Penn, J., Voss, H., Glover, G.,...Casey, B. J.
 (2006). Earlier development of the accumbens relative to orbitofrontal cortex might underlie risk-taking behavior in adolescents. *Journal of Neuroscience, 26*, 6885–6892.

Garnefski, N., & Kraaij, V. (2006). Relationships between cognitive emotion regulation

^{Garnefski, N. (2000). Age differences in depressive symptoms, antisocial behavior, and negative perceptions of family, school, and peers among adolescents.} *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *39*, 1175–1181. doi:10.1097/00004583-200009000-00018

strategies and depressive symptoms: A comparative study of five specific samples. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *40*, 1659–1669.

- Gibbons, F. X., Kingsbury, J. H., & Gerrard, M. (2012). Social-psychological theories and adolescent health risk behavior. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 6(2), 170-183. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9004.2011.00412.x
- Greene, R. W. (2008). Lost at school: Why our kids with behavioral challenges are falling through the cracks and how we can help them. New York, NY: Scribner.
- Greene, R.W. (2010). Calling all frequent flyers. Educational Leadership, 68(2), 28-34
- Groeben, M., Perren, S., Stadelmann, S., & von Klitzing, K. (2011). Emotional symptoms from kindergarten to middle childhood: Associations with self- and other-oriented social skills. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 20, 3–15. doi:10.1007/s00787-010-0139-z
- Gross, J. J. (1998). Antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation: Divergent consequences for experience, expression, and physiology. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 74, 224–237. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.74.1.224
- Gross, J. J. (2002). Emotion regulation: Affective, cognitive, and social consequences. *Psychophysiology*, *39*, 281–291. doi:10.1017/ S0048577201393198
- Gross, J. J. (2013). Emotion regulation: Taking stock and moving forward. *Emotion*, *13*(3), 359-365. doi: 10.1037/a0032135
- Gross, J. J., & Jazaieri, H. (2014). Emotion, emotion regulation, and psychopathology:
 An affective science perspective. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 2(4), 387-401.
 doi:10.1177/2167702614536164

- Gross, J. J., & Muñoz, R. F. (1995). Emotion regulation and mental health. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 2, 151–164. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2850.1995.tb00036.x
- Gross, J. J., Sheppes, G., & Urry, H. L. (2011). Emotion generation and emotion regulation: A distinction we should make (carefully). *Cognition & Emotion, 25,* 765–781. doi:10.1080/02699931.2011.555753
- Gross, J. J., & Thompson, R. A. (2007). Emotion regulation: Conceptual foundations. In J. J. Gross (Ed.), *Handbook of emotion regulation* (pp. 3–24). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Gullo, M. J., & Dawe, S. (2008). Impulsivity and adolescent substance use: Rashly dismissed as 'all-bad?' *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32, 1507–1518.
- Gyurak, A., Gross, J. J., & Etkin, A. (2011). Explicit and implicit emotion regulation: A dual-process framework. *Cognition and Emotion*, 25, 400–412. doi:10.1080/02699931.2010.544160
- Harrell, A. W., Mercer, S. H., & DeRosier, M. E. (2009). Improving the social-behavioral adjustment of adolescents: The effectiveness of a social skills group intervention. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 18*(4), 378-387. doi:10.1007/s10826-008-9241-y
- Hasher, L., Zacks, R. T., & May, C. P. (1999). Inhibitory control, circadian arousal, and age. In D. Gopher & A. Koriat (Eds.), *Attention and performance XVII: Cognitive regulation of performance: Interaction of theory and application* (pp. 653–675).
 Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

- Hollon, S. D. (2003). Does cognitive therapy have an enduring effect? *Cognitive Therapy* & *Research*, 27, 71–75.
- Howorth, C., Smith, S. M., & Parkinson, C. (2012). Social learning and social entrepreneurship education. *Academy of Management Learning & Education*, 11(3), 371-389.
- Jazaieri, H., Urry, H. L., & Gross, J. J. (2013). Affective disturbance and psychopathology: An emotion regulation perspective. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, 4, 584–599. doi: 10.5127/jep.030312
- John, O. P., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Healthy and unhealthy emotion regulation: Personality processes, individual differences, and lifespan development. *Journal of Personality*, 72, 1301–1333. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2004.00298.x
- Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., & Schulenberg, J. E. (2008). Monitoring the future national results on adolescent drug use: Overview of key findings 2007. (NIH Publication No. 08–6418). Retrieved from http://monitoringthefuture.org/pubs.html
- Joormann, J., & Vanderlind, W. M. (2014). Emotion regulation in depression: The role of biased cognition and reduced cognitive control. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 2(4), 402-421. doi: 10.1177/2167702614536163
- Joormann, J., Yoon, K., & Siemer, M. (2010). Cognition and emotion regulation. In A.
 M. Kring & D. M. Sloan (Eds.), *Emotion regulation and psychopathology: A transdiagnostic approach to etiology and treatment* (pp. 174–203). New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- King, K. M., & Chassin, L. (2004). Mediating and moderated effects of adolescent behavioral undercontrol and parenting in the prediction of drug use disorders in emerging adulthood. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 18, 239–249.
- King, K. M., Fleming, C. B., Monahan, K. C., & Catalano, R. F. (2011). Changes in self-control problems and attention problems during middle school predict alcohol, tobacco, and marijuana use during high school. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 25(1), 69-79. doi:10.1037/a0021958
- Kirisci, L., Tarter, R. E., Reynolds, M., & Vanyukov, M. (2006). Individual differences in childhood neurobehavior disinhibition predict decision to desist substance use during adolescence and substance use disorder in young adulthood: A prospective study. *Addictive Behaviors*, 31, 686–696.
- Kress, J. S., & Elias, M. J. (2013). Consultation to support sustainability of social and emotional learning initiatives in school. *Consulting Psychology Journal*, 65(2), 149-163. doi: 10.1037/a0032665
- Kring, A. M. (2008). Emotion disturbances as transdiagnostic processes in psychopathology. In M. Lewis, J. M. Haviland-Jones, & L. F. Barrett (Eds.), *Handbook of emotion* (3rd ed.; pp. 691–705). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Kring, A. M. (2010). The future of emotion research in the study of psychopathology. *Emotion Review*, *2*, 225–228. doi:10.1177/1754073910361986
- Kring, A. M., & Werner, K. H. (2004). Emotion regulation and psychopathology. In P.Philippot & R. S. Feldman (Eds.), *The regulation of emotion* (pp. 359–385).Hove, England: Psychology Press.

- Kuppens, S., Laurent, L., Heyvaert, M., & Onghena, P. (2013). Associations between parental psychological control and relational aggression in children and adolescents: A multilevel and sequential meta-analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(9), 1697-1712. doi:10.1037/a0030740
- Lanteigne, D. M., Flynn, J. J., Eastabrook, J. M., & Hollenstein, T. (2014). Discordant patterns among emotional experience, arousal, and expression in adolescence:
 Relations with emotion regulation and internalizing problems. *Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science*, 46(1), 29-39. doi:10.1037/a0029968
- Laursen, B., Coy, K., & Collins, W. A. (1998). Reconsidering changes in parent–child conflict across adolescence: A meta-analysis. *Child Development, 69*, 817–832.
- Lemstra, M., Bennett, N., Nannapaneni, U., Neudorf, C., Warren, L., Kershaw, T., & Scott, C. (2010). A systematic review of school-based marijuana and alcohol prevention programs targeting adolescents aged 10–15. *Addiction Research & Theory, 18*(1), 84-96. doi:10.3109/16066350802673224
- Lerner, R. M., & Steinberg, L. (2009). *Handbook of adolescent psychology*. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Lipszyc, J., & Schachar, R. (2010). Inhibitory control and psychopathology: A metaanalysis of studies using the stop signal task. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *16*, 1064–1076. doi:10.1017/S1355617710000895
- Marganska, A., Gallagher, M., & Miranda, R. (2013). Adult attachment, emotion
 dysregulation, and symptoms of depression and generalized anxiety disorder.
 American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 83(1), 131-141. doi:10.1111/ajop.12001

- Mauss, I. B., Bunge, S. A., & Gross, J. J. (2007). Automatic emotion regulation. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 1, 146–167. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00005.x
- Mauss, I. B., Wilhelm, F., & Gross, J. J. (2004). Is there less to social anxiety than meets the eye? Emotion experience, expression, and bodily responding. *Cognition & Emotion*, 18, 631–642. doi:10.1080/02699930341000112
- Mavroveli, S., Petrides, K., Rieffe, C., & Bakker, F. (2007). Trait emotional intelligence, psychological well-being and peer-rated social competence in adolescence. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 25, 263-275.
 doi:10.1348/026151006X118577
- Mazefsky, C. A., Pelphrey, K. A., & Dahl, R. E. (2012). The need for a broader approach to emotion regulation research in autism. *Child Development Perspectives*, *6*, 92–97. doi:10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00229.x
- McLeod, B. D. (2010). Review of 'Cognitive therapy techniques for children and adolescents: Tools for enhancing practice'. *Cognitive Behavior Therapy*, 39(2), 158. doi:10.1080/16506070903523262
- McNeely, C., & Blanchard, J. (2009). The teen years explained: A guide to healthy adolescent development. Retrieved from http://www.jhsph.edu/adolescenthealth
- Mezzich, A. C., Tarter, R. E., Feske, U., Kirisci, L., McNamee, R. L., & Day, B. S.
 (2007). Assessment of risk for substance use disorder consequent to consumption of illegal drugs: Psychometric validation of the neurobehavior disinhibition trait. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 21*,508–515.

- Mischel, W., Ayduk, O., Berman, M. G., Casey, B. J., Gotlib, I. H., Jonides, J., . . .
 Shoda, Y. (2011). "Willpower" over the life span: Decomposing self-regulation.
 Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience, 6, 252–256.
 doi:10.1093/scan/nsq081
- Miyake, A., & Friedman, N. P. (2012). The nature and organization of individual differences in executive functions: Four general conclusions. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21, 8–14. doi:10.1177/0963721411429458
- Nagar, S., Sherer, J. T., Chen, H., & Aparasu, R. R. (2010). Extent of functional impairment in children and adolescents with depression. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, 26, 2057–2064. doi:10.1185/03007995.2010.496688
- Nee, D. E., Jonides, J., & Berman, M. G. (2007). Neural mechanisms of proactive interference resolution. *NeuroImage*, 38, 740 –751. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2007.07.066
- Nielsen, M. B. D., Madsen, I. E., Bültmann, U., Christensen, U., Diderichsen, F., & Rugulies, R. (2011). Predictors of return to work in employees sick-listed with mental health problems: Findings from a longitudinal study. *European Journal of Public Health, 21*, 806 – 811. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckq171
- Nigg, J. T. (2000). On inhibition/disinhibition in developmental psychopathology: Views from cognitive and personality psychology and a working inhibition taxonomy.
 Psychological Bulletin, *126*, 220–246. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.126.2.220
- Oklan, A. M., & Henderson, S. J. (2014). Treating inhalant abuse in adolescence: A recorded music expressive arts intervention. *Psychomusicology: Music, Mind, and*

Brain, 24(3), 231-237. doi:10.1037/pmu0000058

- Oldehinkel, A. J., Rosmalen, J. G., Veenstra, R., Dijkstra, J. K., & Ormel, J. (2007).
 Being admired or being liked: Classroom social status and depressive problems in early adolescent girls and boys. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 35, 417–427. doi:10.1007/s10802-007-9100-0
- Orcutt, J. D., & Schwabe, A. M. (2012). Gender, race/ethnicity, and deviant drinking: A longitudinal application of social structure and social learning theory.
 Sociological Spectrum, 32(1), 20-36. doi:10.1080/02732173.2012.628553
- Osher, D., & Fleischman, S. (2005). Research matters/positive culture in urban schools. *Educational Leadership*, 62, 84–85.
- Parkinson, B., & Totterdell, P. (1999). Classifying affect-regulation strategies. Cognition and Emotion, 13, 277–303. doi:10.1080/026999399379285
- Pfiffner, L. J., Hinshaw, S. P., Owens, E., Zalecki, C., Kaiser, N. M., Villodas, M., & McBurnett, K. (2014). A two-site randomized clinical trial of integrated psychosocial treatment for ADHD-inattentive type. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 82(6), 1115-1127. doi:10.1037/a0036887
- Pharo, H., Sim, C., Graham, M., Gross, J., & Hayne, H. (2011). Risky business:
 Executive function, personality, and reckless behavior during adolescence and emerging adulthood. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *125*(6), 970-978.
 doi:10.1037/a0025768

Rauch, W. A., Gold, A., & Schmitt, K. (2012). Combining cognitive and personality

measures of impulse control in the assessment of childhood ADHD. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 28*(3), 208-215. doi:10.1027/1015-5759/a000128

- Reinke, W. M., Herman, K. C., & Ialongo, N. S. (2012). Developing and implementing integrated school-based mental health interventions. *Advances in School Mental Health Promotion*, 5, 158–160. doi:10.1080/1754730X .2012.707420
- Reyna, V. F., & Mills, B. A. (2014). Theoretically motivated interventions for reducing sexual risk-taking in adolescence: A randomized controlled experiment applying fuzzy-trace theory. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, *143*(4), 1627-1648. doi:10.1037/a0036717
- Reynolds, B., Penfold, R. B., & Patak, M. (2008). Dimensions of impulsive behavior in adolescents: Laboratory behavioral assessments. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 16, 124–131. doi:10.1037/1064-1297.16.2.124
- Ro, E., & Clark, L. (2013). Interrelations between psychosocial functioning and adaptiveand maladaptive-range personality traits. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *122*(3), 822-835. doi:10.1037/a0033620
- Robbins, S. B., Lauver, K., Le, H., Davis, D., Langley, R., & Carlstrom, A. (2004). Do psychosocial and study skill factors predict college outcomes? A meta-analysis.
 Psychological Bulletin, 130(2), 261-288. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.130.2.261

Rohde, P., Stice, E., Shaw, H., & Gau, J. M. (2015). Effectiveness trial of an indicated

cognitive–behavioral group adolescent depression prevention program versus bibliotherapy and brochure control at 1- and 2-year follow-up. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 83*(4), 736-747. doi:10.1037/ccp0000022

- Roisman, G. I., Masten, A. S., Coatsworth, J. D., & Tellegen, A. (2004). Salient and emerging developmental tasks in the transition to adulthood. *Child Development*, 75, 123–133. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00658.x
- Rones, M., & Hoagwood, K. (2000). School-based mental health services: A research review. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *3*, 223–241. doi:10.1023/A:1026425104386
- Rose-Krasnor, L., & Denham, S. (2009). Social–emotional competence in early childhood. In K. H. Rubin, W. M. Bukowski, & B. Laursen (Eds.), *Handbook of peer interactions, relationships, and groups* (pp. 162–179). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Saarni, C., Campos, J. J., Camras, L. A., & Witherington, D. (2006). Emotional development: Action, communication, and understanding. In N. Eisenberg (Ed.), *Handbook of child psychology. Vol. 3: Social, emotional, and personality development* (pp. 226–299). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Sheperis, C., (2009) Laureate Education, Inc. (Executive Producer). G*Power software:A practical demonstration. Baltimore: Author.
- Silk, J. S., Steinberg, L., & Morris, A. S. (2003). Adolescents' emotion regulation in daily life: links to depressive symptoms and problem behavior. *Child Development*, 74, 1869–1880.

- Silvers, J. A., McRae, K., Gabrieli, J. E., Gross, J. J., Remy, K. A., & Ochsner, K. N.
 (2012). Age-related differences in emotional reactivity, regulation, and rejection sensitivity in adolescence. *Emotion*, *12*(6), 1235–1247. doi:10.1037/a0028297
- Somerville, L. H., Jones, R. M., & Casey, B. J. (2010). A time of change: Behavioral and neural correlates of adolescent sensitivity to appetitive and aversive environmental cues. *Brain and Cognition*, 72, 124–133.
- Stahl, C., Voss, A., Schmitz, F., Nuszbaum, M., Tüscher, O., Lieb, K., & Klauer, K. C. (2014). Behavioral components of impulsivity. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 143(2), 850–886. doi:10.1037/a0033981
- Steinbeis, N., Bernhardt, B. C., & Singer, T. (2012). Impulse control and underlying functions of the left DLPFC mediate age-related and age-independent individual differences in strategic social behavior. *Neuron*, 73, 1040–1051. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.12.027
- Steinberg, L. (2010). A dual systems model of adolescent risk-taking. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 52(3), 216–224. doi:10.1002/dev.20445
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2007). Lions quest skills for adolescence. Retrieved from

http://nrepp.samhsa.gov/ViewIntervention.aspx?id=24

Suchy, Y. (2009). Executive functioning: Overview, assessment, and research issues for non-neuropsychologists. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 37, 106–116. doi:10.1007/s12160-009-9097-4

Swart, J., & Apsche, J. (2014). Mindfulness, mode deactivation, and family therapy: A

winning combination for treating adolescents with complex trauma and behavioral problems. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 9(2), 9–14. doi:10.1037/h0100992

- Taylor, L. C., Leary, K. A., Boyle, A. E., Bigelow, K. E., Henry, T., & DeRosier, M.
 (2015). Parent training and adolescent social functioning: A brief report. *Journal* of Child & Family Studies, 42, 1-9. doi:10.1007/s10826-014-0106-2
- Thompson, R. A. (2011). Emotion and emotion regulation: Two sides of the developing coin. *Emotion Review*, *3*, 53–61.
- Tremblay, R. E. (2010). Developmental origins of disruptive behavior problems: The original sin hypothesis, epigenetics and their consequences for prevention. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 51(4), 341–367. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02211.x
- Undheim, A., & Sund, A. (2005). School factors and the emergence of depressive symptoms among young Norwegian adolescents. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 14, 446–453. doi:10.1007/s00787-005-0496-1
- Unsworth, N. (2010). Interference control, working memory capacity, and cognitive abilities: A latent variable analysis. *Intelligence*, *38*, 255–267. doi:10.1016/j.intell.2009.12.003
- Urry, H. L., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Emotion regulation in older age. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *19*, 352–357. doi:10.1177/0963721410388395

U.S. Department of Education. (2006). What works clearinghouse intervention report:

Skills for adolescence. Retrieved from

http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED493781.pdf

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2013). Adolescent health. Retrieved from

https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/Adolescent-Health

- Verboom, C. E., Sijtsema, J. J., Verhulst, F. C., Penninx, B. W., & Ormel, J. (2013).
 Longitudinal associations between depressive problems, academic performance, and social functioning in adolescent boys and girls. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(1), 247–257. doi: 10.1037/a0032547
- Vernberg, E. M. (1990). Psychological adjustment and experiences with peers during early adolescence: Reciprocal, incidental, or unidirectional relationships. *Journal* of Abnormal Child Psychology, 18, 187–198. doi:10.1007/BF00910730
- Vierhaus, M., Lohaus, A., & Ball, J. (2007). Developmental changes in coping:
 Situational and methodological influences. *Anxiety, Stress and Coping, 20*, 267–282.
- Wagner, M., Newman, L., Cameto, R., & Levine, P. (2006). The academic achievement and functional performance of youth with disabilities: A report from the National Longitudinal Transition Study-2 (NLTS2). (NCSER 2006–3000). Menlo Park, CA: SRI International.
- Walters, G. D. (2014). Crime and substance misuse in adjudicated delinquent youth: The worst of both worlds. *Law and Human Behavior*, 38(2), 139–150.
 doi:10.1037/lb0000050

- Watford, T. S., & Stafford, J. (2015). The impact of mindfulness on emotion dysregulation and psychophysiological reactivity under emotional provocation. *Psychology of Consciousness: Theory, Research, and Practice, 2*(1), 90–109. doi:10.1037/cns0000039
- Webb, T. L., Miles, E., & Sheeran, P. (2012). Dealing with feeling: A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of strategies derived from the process model of emotion regulation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *138*, 775–808. doi:10.1037/ a0027600
- Werner, K., & Gross, J. J. (2010). Emotion regulation and psychopathology: A conceptual framework. In A. Kring & D. Sloan (Eds.), *Emotion regulation and psychopathology: A transdiagnostic approach to etiology and treatment* (pp. 13–37). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Woodward, L. J., & Fergusson, D. M. (2000). Childhood peer relationship problems and later risks of educational underachievement and unemployment. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry*, 41, 191–201.
- Zimmermann, P. (1999). Structure and functions of internal working models of attachment and their role for emotion regulation. *Attachment & Human Development*, 1, 291–306.
- Zimmerman, P., & Iwanski, A. (2014). Emotion regulation from early adolescence to emerging adulthood: Age differences, gender differences, and emotion-specific developmental variations. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 38(2), 182–194. doi: 10.1177/0165025413515405

Appendix A: Letter of Cooperation from Horizon Behavioral Health 05/01/2016

Dear Jennifer Switzer,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled Evaluation of the Intervention Efficacy of Lions Quest Skills for Adolescence. As part of this study, I authorize you to use secondary data from outcome results with the names of participants being anonymous for purposes of the study.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include access to secondary data being used to measure the efficacy of the Lions Quest Skills for Adolescence program in improving lagging psychosocial skills in adolescence. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change. I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential, and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Walden University IRB.

Best Regards,

Damien Cabezas Chief Executive Officer, Horizon Behavioral Health Horizon Behavioral Health

Appendix B: ALSUP Checklist

Child's Name_____ Date____ Person Completing Form_____

	Never	Sometimes	Often	Always
1. Difficulty handling transitions, shifting from	0	1	2	3
one mindset or task to another				
2. Difficulty doing things in a logical sequence	0	1	2	3
or prescribed order				
3. Difficulty persisting on challenging or	0	1	2	3
tedious tasks				
4. Poor sense of time	0	1	2	3
5. Difficulty reflecting on multiple thoughts or	0	1	2	3
ideas simultaneously				
6. Difficulty maintaining focus	0	1	2	3
7. Difficulty considering the likely outcomes	0	1	2	3
or consequences of actions				
8. Difficulty considering a range of solutions to	0	1	2	3
a problem				
9. Difficulty expressing concerns, needs, or	0	1	2	3
thoughts in words				
10. Difficulty understanding what is being said	0	1	2	3
11. Difficulty managing emotional response to	0	1	2	3
frustration so as to think rationally				
12. Chronic irritability and/or anxiety	0	1	2	3
significantly impede capacity for problem-				
solving or heighten frustration				
13. Difficulty seeing the "grays"/concrete,	0	1	2	3
literal, black-and-white, thinking				
14. Difficulty deviating from rules, routine	0	1	2	3
15. Difficulty handling unpredictability,	0	1	2	3
ambiguity, uncertainty, novelty				
16. Difficulty shifting from original idea, plan,	0	1	2	3
or solution				
17. Difficulty taking into account situational	0	1	2	3
factors that would suggest the need to adjust a				
plan of action				
18. Inflexible, inaccurate	0	1	2	3
interpretations/cognitive distortions or biases				
(e.g., "Everyone's out to get me," "Nobody				
likes me," "You always blame me," "It's not				
fair," "I'm stupid")				
19. Difficulty attending to or accurately	0	1	2	3

interpreting social cues/poor perception of				
social nuances				
20. Difficulty starting conversations, entering	0	1	2	3
groups, connecting with people/lacking other				
basic social skills				
21. Difficulty seeking attention in appropriate	0	1	2	3
ways				
22. Difficulty appreciating how his/her	0	1	2	3
behavior is affecting other people				
23. Difficulty empathizing with others,	0	1	2	3
appreciating another person's perspective or				
point of view				
24. Difficulty appreciating how he/she is	0	1	2	3
coming across or being perceived by others				